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Foreword

The Key Indicators for Asia and the Pacific 2014 (Key Indicators 2014), the 45th edition of this
series, includes the latest available economic, financial, social, environmental, and Millennium
Development Goal (MDG) indicators for the 48 regional members of the Asian Development
Bank. Key statistics on development issues in the economies of Asia and the Pacific are presented
to a wide audience, including policy makers, development practitioners, government officials,
researchers, students, and the general public. Key Indicators 2014 is supplemented by the fourth
edition of the Framework of Inclusive Growth Indicators, which contains a set of 35 indicators
that measure income and nonincome outcomes of inclusive growth; the processes and inputs
that are important to improve access to opportunities, social inclusion, and social safety nets;
and good governance and institutions.

Part I is a special chapter on “Poverty in Asia: A Deeper Look.” Based on a conventional
measure—the $1.25-a-day poverty line—the region, while still home to 733 million extremely
poor, remains on track to eradicate extreme poverty by 2030. This is indeed a remarkable
achievement, yet many argue this poverty line underestimates the cost required to maintain a
minimum living standard by the poor in Asia and the Pacific. One attempt to adjust the poverty
line is examined in this chapter. When based on an average of national poverty lines for less
developed economies in the region, and when the added effects of vulnerability to risks (such
as shocks and disasters) and food insecurity are considered, the number of extreme poor in the
region in 2010 more than doubles—to about 1.75 billion.

Looking ahead, projections tentatively show that by 2030, some 700 million people in
Asia and the Pacific could still suffer from extreme poverty. Most will live in middle income
countries, raising particular challenges.

Aside from sustaining rapid economic growth, there are several policy implications
for antipoverty strategies. They can help address vulnerability to risks by strengthening the
infrastructure needed for disaster prevention and by broadening the region’s social safety
nets and insurance markets. Prudent macroeconomic management can make the economy
more resilient. Food security can, for example, be enhanced through better productivity, use
of technology, targeted food aid where needed, and building adequate national and regional
reserves.

Part IT contains the MDG indicators and short commentaries on progress toward achieving
the specified targets. The region continues to make uneven progress toward achieving the
MDGs by the 2015 deadline. While most of the region has made significant gains in reducing
poverty, improving access to universal primary education, and promoting gender equality and
women’s empowerment, the 2015 targets for reducing child mortality and malnourishment and
improving maternal health are not likely to be reached.



Foreword

Regional tables in Part III present indicators in eight themes: People; Economy and
Output; Money, Finance, and Prices; Globalization; Transport and Communications; Energy
and Electricity; Environment; and Government and Governance. The data show that while
economic growth in Asia and the Pacific was largely unchanged in 2013, a major transformation
is under way in the region. Asia and the Pacific now accounts for over half of the world’s
population, nearly 40% of global gross domestic product in purchasing power parity terms, and
about one-third of world exports. The region’s growing importance also brings with it increasing
challenges. Regional economies consume more than two-fifths of the world’s energy, continue
to increase their emissions of greenhouse gases and other pollutants, and are faced with the
rapid consumption of finite resources. Improved governance is imperative as more than 40%
of the region’s economies reside in the bottom one-third of Transparency International’s global
corruption rankings.

We rely on and appreciate the continuing cooperation of regional governments and
international agencies in providing data to the Asian Development Bank. Our objective is for Key
Indicators 2014 to continue being a valuable resource for monitoring progress and addressing
development challenges in the region. As always, we welcome feedback from our users on both
the content and structure of the publication, which can be e-mailed to keyindicators@adb.org

Takehiko Nakao
President
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Statistical Partners

The preparation and publication of Key Indicators for Asia and the Pacific 2014 would not have been possible
without the support, assistance, and cooperation of the partners in the regional members of the Asian
Development Bank (ADB) and in international, private, and nongovernment organizations. These partners,
who shared their data, knowledge, expertise, and other information, help provide ADB, policy makers, and
other data users a better understanding of the performance of countries around Asia and the Pacific region, so
that better policies can be formulated to improve the quality of life of people around the region.

REGIONAL MEMBERS

Afghanistan Central Statistics Organization (http://cso.gov.af/en)
Da Afghanistan Bank (http://www.centralbank.gov.af)
Ministry of Finance (http://mof.gov.af/en)

Armenia Central Bank of Armenia (https://www.cba.am/en)
National Statistical Service of the Republic of Armenia
(http://www.armstat.am/en)

Australia Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics and
Sciences
(http://www.daff.gov.au)
Australian Bureau of Statistics (http://www.abs.gov.au)
Bureau of Resources and Energy Economics (http://www.bree.gov.au)
Reserve Bank of Australia (http://www.rba.gov.au/)

Azerbaijan Central Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan (http://en.cbar.az)
State Statistical Committee of the Republic of Azerbaijan
(http://www.stat.gov.az)

Bangladesh Bangladesh Bank (http://www.bangladesh-bank.org)
Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics (http://www.bbs.gov.bd)
Ministry of Finance (http://www.mof.gov.bd/en)

Bhutan Ministry of Finance (http://www.mof.gov.bt)
Ministry of Labor and Human Resources (http://www.molhr.gov.bt)
National Statistics Bureau (http://www.nsb.gov.bt)
Royal Monetary Authority of Bhutan (http://www.rma.org.bt)

Brunei Darussalam Autoriti Monetari Brunei Darussalam (http://www.ambd.gov.bn)
Department of Statistics (http://www.depd.gov.bn)
Ministry of Finance (http://www.mof.gov.bn/)

Cambodia Ministry of Economy and Finance (http://www.mef.gov.kh)
National Bank of Cambodia (http://www.nbc.org.kh)
National Institute of Statistics (http://www.nis.gov.kh)
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China, People’s Republic of

Cook Islands

Fiji

Georgia

Hong Kong, China

India

Indonesia

Japan

Kazakhstan

Kiribati

Korea, Republic of

Kyrgyz Republic

National Bureau of Statistics (http://www.stats.gov.cn)

Cook Islands Statistics Office (http://www.mfem.gov.ck)
Ministry of Finance and Economic Management
(http://www.mfem.gov.ck)

Bureau of Statistics (http://www.statsfiji.gov.fj)
Reserve Bank of Fiji (http://www.reservebank.gov.fj)

Ministry of Finance of Georgia (http://www.mof.ge)
National Bank of Georgia (http://www.nbg.gov.ge)
National Statistics Office of Georgia (http://www.geostat.ge)

Census and Statistics Department (http://www.censtatd.gov.hk)
Hong Kong Monetary Authority (http://www.hkma.gov.hk)

Central Statistical Organization (http://mospi.nic.in)
Ministry of Finance (http://finmin.nic.in)
Reserve Bank of India (http://www.rbi.org.in)

Bank Indonesia (http://www.bi.go.id/web)

Badan Pusat Statistik-Statistics Indonesia (http://www.bps.go.id)
Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources (http://www.esdm.go.id)
PT Pertamina (Persero) (http://www.barata.co.id)

Bank of Japan (http://www.boj.or.jp/en)

Economic and Social Research Institute (http://www.esri.go.jp)
Japan Statistics Bureau (http://www.stat.go.jp/english)

Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (http://www.meti.go.jp)
Ministry of Finance (http://www.mof.go.jp)

Agency of Statistics of the Republic of Kazakhstan
(http://www.stat.gov.kz)
National Bank of Kazakhstan (http://www.nationalbank.kz)

Kiribati National Statistics Office (http://www.spc.int/prism/kiribati)

Bank of Korea (http://eng.bok.or.kr)
Ministry of Strategy and Finance (http://english.mosf.go.kr)
Statistics Korea (http://kostat.go.kr)

National Bank of the Kyrgyz Republic (http://www.nbkr.kg)
National Statistical Committee of the Kyrgyz Republic
(http://www.stat.kg)
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Lao People’s Democratic Bank of the Lao PDR (http://www.bol.gov.la)
Republic Lao Statistics Bureau (http://www.Isb.gov.la)
Ministry of Finance (http://www.mof.gov.la)

Malaysia Bank Negara Malaysia (http://www.bnm.gov.my)
Department of Statistics (http://www.statistics.gov.my)
Ministry of Finance (http://www.treasury.gov.my)

Maldives Department of National Planning (http://planning.gov.mv)
Maldives Monetary Authority (http://www.mma.gov.mv)
Ministry of Finance and Treasury (http://www.finance.gov.mv)

Marshall Islands, Republic of the Economic Policy, Planning and Statistics Office
(http://www.spc.int/prism/country/mh/stats)

Micronesia, Federated States of Office of Statistics, Budget and Economic Management, Overseas
Development Assistance and Compact Management
(http://www.sboc.fm)

Mongolia Bank of Mongolia (http://www.mongolbank.mn)

National Statistical Office of Mongolia (http://en.nso.mn)

Myanmar Central Statistical Organization (https://www.mnped.gov.mm)
Ministry of National Planning and Economic Development
(https://www.mnped.gov.mm)

Nauru Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning (http://www.naurugov.nr)
Nauru Bureau of Statistics (tp://www.spc.int/prism/country/nr/stats/)

Nepal Central Bureau of Statistics (http://cbs.gov.np)
Ministry of Finance (http://www.mof.gov.np)
Nepal Rastra Bank (http://www.nrb.org.np)

New Zealand Ministry of Economic Development (www.med.govt.nz)
Reserve Bank of New Zealand (http://www.rbnz.govt.nz)
Statistics New Zealand (http://www.stats.govt.nz)

Pakistan Ministry of Economic Affairs and Statistics (http://www.ead.gov.pk)
Ministry of Finance (http://www.finance.gov.pk)
Pakistan Bureau of Statistics (http://www.pbs.gov.pk)
State Bank of Pakistan (http://www.sbp.org.pk)

Palau Bureau of Budget and Planning, Ministry of Finance
(http://palaugov.org/bureau-of-budget-planning)
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Papua New Guinea

Philippines

Samoa

Singapore

Solomon Islands

Sri Lanka

Taipei,China

Tajikistan

Thailand

Timor-Leste

Bank of Papua New Guinea (http://www.bankpng.gov.pg)
Department of Treasury (http://www.treasury.gov.pg)
National Statistical Office (http://www.spc.int/prism/country/pg/stats)

Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (http://www.bsp.gov.ph)

Bureau of Local Government Finance (http://www.blgf.gov.ph)
Bureau of the Treasury (http://www.treasury.gov.ph)

Department of Budget and Management (http://www.dbm.gov.ph)
Department of Energy (http://www.doe.gov.ph)

Philippine Statistics Authority (http://www.psa.gov.ph)

Bureau of Statistics (http://www.cbs.gov.ws)
Central Bank of Samoa (http://www.mof.gov.ws)

Economic Development Board International Enterprise
(http://www.edb.gov.sg/edb/sg)

Singapore Ministry of Finance (http://app.mof.gov.sg)

Ministry of Manpower (http://www.mom.gov.sg)

Monetary Authority of Singapore (http://www.mas.gov.sg)
Singapore Department of Statistics (http://www.singstat.gov.sg)

Central Bank of Solomon Islands (http://www.cbsi.com.sb)

Central Bank of Sri Lanka (http://www.cbsl.gov.Ik)
Department of Census and Statistics (http://www.statistics.gov.lk)

Central Bank of China (http://www.cbc.gov.tw)
Directorate-General of Budget, Accounting and Statistics
(http://eng.dgbas.gov.tw)

National Bank of Tajikistan (http://www.nbt.tj)
State Statistical Committee of Tajikistan (http://www.stat.tj)

Bank of Thailand (http://www.bot.or.th)

Ministry of Finance (http://www2.mof.go.th)
National Economic and Social Development Board
(http://eng.nesdb.go.th)

National Statistical Office (http://web.nso.go.th)

Central Bank of Timor-Leste (http://www.bancocentral.tl)
Ministry of Finance (http://www.mof.gov.tl)
National Statistics Directorate (http://www.statistics.gov.tl)
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Tonga Ministry of Finance and National Planning (http://www.finance.gov.to)
National Reserve Bank of Tonga (http://www.reservebank.to)
Department of Statistics (http://www.spc.int/prism/tonga)

Turkmenistan The State Committee of Turkmenistan on Statistics
(http://www.stat.gov.tm)

Tuvalu Central Statistics Division (http://www.spc.int/prism/tuvalu)

Uzbekistan Cabinet of Ministers (http://www.gov.uz/en/government)

Central Bank of Uzbekistan (http://www.cbu.uz)
Ministry of Finance (http://www.mf.uz)
State Committee on Statistics (http://www.stat.uz)

Vanuatu Department of Finance and Treasury(https://doft.gov.vu/)
Reserve Bank of Vanuatu (http://www.rbv.gov.vu)
Vanuatu National Statistics Office (http://www.vnso.gov.vu)

Viet Nam General Statistics Office (http://www.gso.gov.vn)
Ministry of Finance (http://www.mof.gov.vn)
State Bank of Viet Nam (http://www.sbv.gov.vn)

INTERNATIONAL, PRIVATE, AND NONGOVERNMENT ORGANIZATIONS

Association of Southeast Asian Nations

Australian Institute of Petroleum

Commonwealth of Independent States

CEIC Data Company Ltd.

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

Food and Agriculture Organization

International Development Association

International Energy Agency

International Labour Organization

International Monetary Fund

International Telecommunication Union

Interstate Statistical Committee of the Commonwealth of Independent States
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

Pacific and Virgin Islands Training Initiatives, Graduate School USA
Secretariat of the Pacific Community

Transparency International

UNESCO Institute for Statistics

United Nations Children’s Fund

United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs

United Nations Development Programme
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United Nations Economic Commission for Europe

United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific
United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization

United Nations Environment Program

United Nations Human Settlements Programme

United Nations Population Division

United Nations Statistics Division

United Nations World Tourism Organization

United States Census Bureau

United States Bureau of Economic Analysis

World Bank

World Health Organization

WHO/UNICEF Joint Monitoring Programme (JMP) for Water Supply and Sanitation
World Trade Organization



Guide for Users

The Key Indicators for Asia and the Pacific 2014 (Key Indicators 2014) has the following structure. The Highlights
section presents key messages from various parts of the publication. Part I contains a special chapter that varies
every year and deals with a topic on key policy issues, measurement issues, or development challenges. This
year’s special chapter discusses Poverty in Asia: A Deeper Look.

Part IT comprises tables on indicators for the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). The indicators
are presented according to the United Nations revised MDG framework, which was expanded in January 2008
to include new targets for full and productive employment and decent work for all, access to reproductive
health, access to treatment for HIV/ AIDS, and protection of biodiversity, as agreed on by member states at the
2005 World Summit. This year’s Key Indicators 2014 includes as many of the indicators for the new targets as
possible. The tables contain indicators associated with each MDG target.

Part III consists of 98 regional trends and tables grouped into eight themes: People; Economy and
Output; Money, Finance, and Prices; Globalization; Transport and Communications; Energy and Electricity;
and Environment; and Government and Governance. Each theme is further divided into subtopics. The tables
contain indicators related to a subtopic.

The MDGs and themes in Parts IT and III start with a brief analysis of key trends of selected indicators.
The accompanying statistical tables are presented for 48 economies of Asia and the Pacific that are members of
the Asian Development Bank (ADB). The term “country,” used interchangeably with “economy,” is not intended
to make any judgment as to the legal or other status of any territory or area. The 48 economies have been
broadly grouped into developing and developed members aligned with the operational effectiveness of ADB’s
regional departments. The latter refer exclusively to Australia, Japan, and New Zealand. Brunei Darussalam
is a regional member of ADB that is now classified as a developing member. The 45 developing members are
further grouped into five, based on ADB’s operational regions—Central and West Asia, East Asia, South Asia,
Southeast Asia, and the Pacific. Economies are listed alphabetically in each group. The term “regional members”
used in some tables refers to all 48 regional members of ADB, both developing and developed. Indicators are
shown for the most recent year or period for which data are available and, in most tables, for an earlier year or
period (usually 1990 or 1995).

Finally, Part IV defines the indicators in the MDGs and regional trends and tables. The publication also
has a USB containing Parts I, II, III, and IV, plus individual tables for ADB’s 48 regional members. The four
parts and the individual statistical tables of the 48 regional members are also available on ADB’s website at
www.adb.org/key- indicators/2013.
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Data for the MDG indicators, regional trends and tables, and country tables are obtained mainly from
two sources: ADB’s statistical partners among its regional members, and international statistical agencies.
Data obtained from the regional members are comparable to the extent that the regional members follow
standard statistical concepts, definitions, and estimation methods recommended by the United Nations and
other applicable international agencies. Nevertheless, regional members invariably develop and use their own
concepts, definitions, and estimation methodologies to suit their individual circumstances, and these may not
necessarily comply with recommended international standards. Thus, even though attempts were made to
present the data in a comparable and uniform format, they are subject to variations in the statistical methods
used by regional members, so that full comparability of data may not be possible. These variations are reflected
in the footnotes of the statistical tables or noted in the Data Issues and Comparability sections. Moreover, the
aggregates for developing and regional members shown in some tables are treated as approximations of the
actual total or average, or growth rates, due to missing data from the primary source. No attempt has been made
to impute the missing data.



Fiscal Year
The data cutoff date for this issue is July 2014.

Twenty-four regional members have varying fiscal years not corresponding to the calendar year. Whenever the
statistical series (for example, national accounts or government finance) are compiled on a fiscal year basis,
these are presented under single-year captions corresponding to the period under which most of the fiscal year
falls, as follows:

Regional Members Fiscal Year Year Caption
Afghanistan 21 December 2012-20 December 2013 2013
Cook Islands (after 1990) 1 July 2012-30 June 2013 2013

Brunei Darussalam (after 2002) \
Hong Kong, China

India

Japan 1 April 2012-31 March 2013 2012
Myanmar
New Zealand

Singapore j
Indonesia (until 1999) 1 April 1999-31 March 2000 1999

Australia \
Bangladesh

Bhutan

Nauru > 1 July 2011-30 June 2012 2012
Pakistan

Samoa

Tonga ]
Taipei,China (until 1999) 1 July 1999-30 June 2000 2000
Nepal 16 July 2010-15 July 2011 2011

Lao People’s Democratic Republic

(after 1992)

Marshall Islands, Republic of the 1 October 2011-30 September 2012 2012
Micronesia, Federated States of

Palau

Thailand



Key Symbols

Data not available at cutoff date
- Magnitude equals zero

Oor0.0 Magnitude is less than half of unit employed

* Provisional /preliminary/estimate/budget figure
I Marks break in series

> Greater than

< Less than

> Greater than or equal to

< Less than or equal to

na Not applicable

Measurement Units

ug microgram
kg kilogram
km kilometer
kWh kilowatt-hour
kt kiloton
Abbreviations
ADB Asian Development Bank
ADB SDBS Asian Development Bank Statistical Database System
AIDS acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
APEC Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation
BOD biochemical oxygen demand
BOP balance of payments
BRT bus rapid transit
CDIAC Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center
CFC chlorofluorocarbons
CIF cost, insurance, and freight
CNG compressed natural gas
CO, carbon dioxide
CPI corruption perceptions index
CPI consumer price index
DAC Development Assistance Committee
DOTS Directly Observed Treatment Short Course
EFB empty fruit bunches
EKC Environmental Kuznets Curve

ESCAP Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific



Abbreviations

FAO
FDI
FI1Z
FOB
FTZ
GAR
GCF
GDP
GHG
GNI
GPI
GRUMP
HCR
HDI
HIV
IBT
IEA
ILO
IMF
ISIC
IT
ITU
IUCN
KILM
Lao PDR
LCU
LDC
LECZ
Ln
MDG
NPL
ODA
ODP
OECD
PLI
PM
PMio
PPP
PRC
SNA
SPC
SPM
TB
TFR

Food and Agriculture Organization
foreign direct investment

free industrial zone

free on board

free trade zone

Global Assessment Report on Risk Reduction
gross capital formation

gross domestic product

greenhouse gas

gross national income

gender parity index

Global Rural Urban Mapping Project
head count ratio

human development index

human immunodeficiency virus
increasing block tariff

International Energy Agency
International Labour Organization
International Monetary Fund
International Standard Industrial Classification
information technology

International Telecommunication Union
International Union for Conservation of Nature
Key Indicators of the Labour Market
Lao People’s Democratic Republic

local currency unit

least developed countries

low-elevation coastal zone

natural logarithm

Millennium Development Goal
non-performing loan

official development assistance
ozone-depleting potential

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

price level index
particulate matter

particulate matter with diameter of 10 micrometers or less

purchasing power parity

People’s Republic of China

System of National Accounts
Secretariat of the Pacific Community
suspended particulate matter
tuberculosis

total fertility rate



Abbreviations

UN
UNAIDS
UNCTAD
UNDP
UNECE
UNEP
UNESCO
UNFCCC
UNFPA
UN-HABITAT
UNICEF
UNIDO
UNODC
UNSD
UNWTO
UsS

US EPA
WDI
WDPA
WEO
WHO
WRI
WUP
WVS

United Nations

United Nation on HIV/AIDS

United Nations Conference on Trade and Development
United Nations Development Programme

United Nations Economic Commission for Europe
United Nations Environment Programme

United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization
United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
United Nations Population Fund

United Nations Human Settlements Programme
United Nations Children’s Fund

United Nations Industrial Development Organization
United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime

United Nation Statistics Division

United Nations World Tourism Organization

United States

United States Environmental Protection Agency

World Development Indicators

World Database on Protected Areas

World Energy Outlook

World Health Organization

World Resource Institute

World Urbanization Prospects

World Values Survey

Unless otherwise indicated, “$” refers to United States dollars.



Key Indicators for Asia and the Pacific 2014 Highlights

The Key Indicators for Asia and the Pacific 2014 is the flagship annual statistical publication of the Asian

Development Bank (ADB). The Key Indicators presents the latest available indicators for the 48 regional ADB

members. It contains analyses and statistical tables on the Millennium Development Goals and eight other

economic, financial, social, and environmental themes. The Key Indicators also includes a special chapter—

“Poverty in Asia: A Deeper Look”—that reviews the direction and pace of Asia’s poverty.

Part I: Special Chapter

Poverty in Asia: A Deeper Look

Rapid economic growth in Asia and the Pacific has
led to a dramatic reduction in extreme poverty at
the conventional $1.25/person/day poverty line.
By that measure, Asia’s extreme poverty could be
eradicated before 2030.

e The extreme poverty rate declined from 54.7%
in 1990 to 20.7% in 2010, benefiting 745 million
Asians. The early attainment of the first target
of the Millennium Development Goals—halving
extreme poverty globally—would not have been
possible without Asia.

e The drop in extreme poverty has varied by Asian
subregion: it has been particularly impressive
in East Asia, where the poverty rate fell by
48.6 percentage points—largely driven by the
People’s Republic of China (PRC), followed by
Central and West Asia (394 percentage points),
Southeast Asia (31.0 percentage points), South
Asia (19.8 percentage points), and the Pacific (10.9
percentage points).

 If these trends continue, Asia’s $1.25 poverty rate
would decline to 5.8% in 2020, 2.5% in 2025, and
1.4% in 2030, meaning that extreme poverty could
be “eradicated” (below 3% poverty rate) by 2025.

Yet many will argue that, for Asia and the
Pacific, the $1.25 poverty line is inadequate; it
underestimates the costs required to maintain a
minimum living standard by the poor.

e A deeper look at Asia’s poverty considers three
basic elements that make the conventional $1.25
poverty line inadequate: (i) updated consumption
dataspecific to Asia’s poor; (i) the impact of volatile
and rising costs associated with food insecurity;
and (iii) the region’s increasing vulnerability to
natural disasters, climate change, economic crises,
and other shocks.

An estimated Asia-specific poverty line of $1.51/
person/day increases the region’s extreme poverty
rate in 2010 by 9.8 percentage points.

e For Asia as a region—and for many individual
economies—the $1.25 poverty line is too low. It was
derived from the world’s 15 poorest countries—
only two from Asia—and based on 1988-2005
consumption data. Consumption patterns vary by
region and change over time—in Asia today, for
example, a mobile phone is considered a necessity.
Thus, poverty lines must change accordingly.
Several Asian countries—including the PRC and
India—have recently raised their national poverty
lines to make them more relevant for policy
making.



Highlights

e Broadly followingthe procedure used for obtaining
the $1.25 poverty line—an Asia-specific extreme
poverty line was estimated at $1.51/person/day in
2005 purchasing power parity terms.

* Adopting the $1.51 poverty line raises Asia’s
poverty rate in 2010 by 9.8 percentage points—
from 20.7% to 30.5%. This increases the number
of extreme poor by 343.20 million. For developing
Asia’s largest economies, India’s poverty rate
rises by 15.0 percentage points, Indonesia’s by 9.9
percentage points, and the PRC by 4.9 percentage
points.

When the impact of food insecurity is considered,
Asia’s 2010 extreme poverty rate rises by 4.0
percentage points.

e Food prices have increased due to both supply-
and demand-side factors. On the supply side,
rapid urbanization continues to absorb farmland,
extreme weather or water shortages cut into
yields, and rising ethanol production restricts
food supply. On the demand side, rising incomes
increase both the quantity and quality of food
consumed, with higher quality food using up more
resources. Over 2000-2012, the global food price
increased by an average of about 7.4% a year.

» Although there are some variations in trend,
developing Asia’s food consumer price index
(CPI) increased faster than general CPI for most
countries in most years, both before and after the
2008 food crisis. The difference was largest in the
PRC and Indonesia, while in India it remained

small due to government intervention.

e Rapidly rising food prices increase food insecurity,
threatening the very survival of the poor,
particularly the landless and urban poor. The poor
spend far more of their income on food than the
nonpoor, so food insecurity should be considered
when measuring poverty.

* One way of adjusting for food insecurity involves
inflating the poverty line by changes in food
prices—when the increase in food CPI is greater
than general CPI. This affects Asia’s 2010 extreme
poverty rate by 4 percentage points, an addition of
140.52 million poor.

Accounting for vulnerability to risks—such as
natural disasters, climate change, illness, and
economic crises—raises the 2010 extreme poverty
rate by 11.9 percentage points.

» Inrecent years, vulnerability to natural calamities
has been increasing in both frequency and
severity—especially in East, South, and Southeast
Asia. Asia is home to seven of the world’s 10 most
vulnerable countries. In addition, globalization
has led to the increased possibility of economic
shocks affecting the region.

* Poor and low-income households are particularly
vulnerable to natural disasters, financial crises, or
illness because they have little or no savings. Many
low-income households live just above extreme
poverty and can easily fall back into poverty due to
a shock. Consequently, coping with vulnerability
increases the poor’s minimum costs.

e The vulnerability-adjusted poverty line adds
about 11.9 percentage points to Asia’s poverty rate
in 2010, adding 417.99 million to those considered
extremely poor.

Considering these factors together, Asia’s

extreme poverty rate is estimated at 49.5% in

2010, and will likely remain over 17.1% through

2030, with most of the poor living in middle

income countries. Despite the huge gains already

made, alleviating poverty will continue to be a

significant challenge in Asia for decades to come.

e Using an Asia-specific poverty line and

incorporating the effects of food insecurity and

vulnerability raise Asia’s 2010 poverty rate by
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28.8 percentage points, from 20.7% to 49.5%. It
increases the number of extreme poor in 2010 by
1,017.36 million, from 733.06 million to 1,750.42
million.

e Looking ahead, poverty will decline further if
recent economic growth trends continue. The
overall poverty rate using the broader measure
is projected to fall from 49.5% in 2010 to 17.1%
in 2030. Food insecurity and vulnerability will
continue to make poverty reduction in Asia
a significant challenge.

e By subregion, the poverty rate using the broader
measure is projected to fall to 27.0% for the Pacific,
24.5% for South Asia, 20.1% for Central and West
Asia, 10.9% for East Asia, and 9.7% for Southeast
Asia by 2030.

While the reduction in Asia’s extreme poverty has
been a remarkable achievement—and projections
show poverty will continue to drop significantly—
much work remains. Policy actions are needed
to promote economic growth, and reduce food
insecurity and vulnerability.

e Food security can be improved by enhancing

food availability (through improved productivity
and technological development, for example),
affordability and access (such as targeted food
aid for the poor and upgrading farm-to-fork
infrastructure), and stabilizing food supply
(national or regional emergency reserve stocks,
among others).

To deal with increasing vulnerability, risk-
mapping can better identify and help assess those
most exposed, and what resources are available to
respond. Efforts in disaster risk reduction (through
infrastructure sufficiently resilient to withstand
disasters, early warning systems, livelihood
diversification, stockpiling relief supplies, and
training local response teams, for example) need
to intensify. Climate change initiatives should
continue to concentrate on both adaptation and
mitigation. Publicly funded social safety nets and
market-based instruments (such as insurance
policies) need to be broadened and deepened in
most Asian countries. Finally, strong economic
growth, prudent macroeconomic management,
and close regional cooperation can reduce a
country’s vulnerability to external shocks.



Part 11: Millennium Development Goals

Part II contains the Millennium Development
Goal (MDG) indicators and short commentaries
on progress toward achieving the specified
targets. While the target to halve extreme poverty
has generally been met, progress against child
malnutrition in many economies is slower. Most
of the region has achieved significant progress in
improving access to universal primary education,
and promoting gender equality and women’s
empowerment. The targets for reductions larger
than half by 2015 in child and maternal mortality

appear beyond reach.

A few economies are expected to meet the
goal of halting and starting to reverse the spread of
HIV/AIDS. As to environmental
emissions of carbon dioxide have increased rapidly,

sustainability,

but most economies have placed more land and sea
areas under protection. The record on provision for
improved sanitationisless thansatisfactory compared
to the solid progress made toward improving access
to safe drinking water. The latest data show official
flows from all sources to developing member
economies increased.

MDG 1: Eradicate extreme poverty and hunger

* Most of the economies have achieved the target of
halving extreme poverty, defined as people having
average income or consumption less than $1.25
per day in 2005 purchasing power parity terms.
However, the extreme poverty rate still persists
at over 20% including in a few economies that
have large populations (Bangladesh, India, and
Pakistan).

e The employment-to-population ratio increased in
most reporting economies, but in some economies
such as Nepal and Cambodia, the increase may
reflect high levels of employment in low-paying
informal jobs.

e Proportion of vulnerable workers remained high
at over 40% in 15 of the 27 reporting developing
economies. However, the decline in the proportion
of the working poor in all the economies suggests
that there has been progress in generating decent
jobs.

e Indicators measuring hunger (proportion of
undernourished people and the proportion of
underweight children under 5 years of age)
showed much improvement, but malnourishment
and undernourishment remain a serious problem
in many economies, with 17 of the 29 economies
being unable to meet the hunger target.

MDG 2: Achieve universal primary education

» Developing economies have made substantial
progress toward universal primary education
with most having achieved the target 95% net
enrollment rate in primary education. Except for
Pakistan, where the net enrollment rate for boys
is about 10 percentage points above that for girls,
there is no apparent gender bias against girls in
primary school enrollment.

e Providing universal primary education remains
a challenge for Sri Lanka and especially for the
Philippines, both having had the largest declines
in net enrollment rates in primary education.

e Though there has been general improvement,
fewer economies have achieved the 95% target
for expected primary school completion. This
indicates more should be done to help children
stay in school.

e In economies where the literacy rates of
15-24-year-olds are below 85%, there are gender
disparities in favor of boys.
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MDG 3: Promote gender equality and empower mortality rates have been lower than those for
women under-5 mortality, implying that increasingly,

e Gender parity in primary and secondary level

enrollment has been generally achieved by the
economies in the region.

Though in about half of the developing member
economies, there are more females than males
enrolled at the tertiary level, in some other
economies gender disparity at the tertiary level
in favor of males still persists and is more severe
compared to that at the primary and secondary
levels.

Of the 38 economies with available data, more
than half—21 economies—have their proportion
of women in nonagricultural wage employment
at 40% or better. The lack of women’s economic
empowerment is most severe in Afghanistan,
Bangladesh, India, and Pakistan where the
proportions of women in nonfarm paid
employment are below 20%.

The proportion of parliamentary seats held
by women has increased between 2000 and
2014, reflecting greater political empowerment.
However, the proportions are still low (below 10%)
in some economies in South Asia and the Pacific.

MDG 4: Reduce child mortality

e Substantial progress hasbeen achieved in reducing

under-5 mortality, but the region still falls short
of the target reduction of two-thirds of the 1990
rate. Fifteen of the 43 reporting members are not
expected to meet the target reduction even by
2030. However, on aggregate, the region’s under-5
mortality rate of 41 in 2012 is better than the global
average of 48.

Infant mortality rate has been halved in the region
from 66 per 1,000 live births in 1990 to 32 in 2012,
a level slightly better than the global average of
35. However, the percentage reductions in infant

infant deaths are accounting for alarger proportion
of under-5 deaths.

e Immunization against measles increased from
74% in 1990 to 85% in 2012, at par with the global
average of 84%. By 2012, almost two-thirds (28
of 43) of the developing economies in the region
have at least 90% of their l-year-old children
immunized against measles.

MDG 5: Improve maternal health

e Maternal mortality ratio in Asia and the Pacific
had been reduced by 61% from 343 in 1990 to 133
in 2010-63% lower than the global average of 210
but short of the three-quarters target reduction.

e Births attended by skilled health personnel
were below 50% in only six out of 43 developing
economies. In 25 of 37 remaining economies, more
than 90% of births were in the presence of skilled
health personnel.

e Since the 1990s, the adolescent birth rate has
declined in all but nine developing economies. The
adolescent birth rate, however, remains high in the
region. In six economies, there were over 80 births
per 1,000 women between the ages 15 and 19.

MDG 6: Combat HIV/AIDS, malaria, and other
diseases

e HIV prevalence declined in economies with
the highest rates of infection in the region, but
increased in 10 economies, mostly in Central and
West Asia and Southeast Asia.

* Access to antiretroviral drugs for those with
advanced HIV infection increased in the region,
particularly in the economies with high rates of
infection—Cambodia, Papua New Guinea, and
Thailand.
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e About half of the 25 reporting economies

have made significant progress in halting the
incidence of malaria. These economies have
malaria incidence at less than 1,000 per 100,000
population and associated death rates at near zero.
In the remaining economies, malaria remains a
severe problem where either the incidence is over
5,000 or the associated death rate is at least 10 per
100,000 population.

MDG 7: Ensure environmental sustainability

e While forest cover did not change very much in

the region since 1990, 12 economies recorded
increases. Almost all reporting economies
registered an increase in the proportion of
protected terrestrial and marine areas.

Per capita emissions of CO, increased in about 70%
of the region’s economies but remain well below
those of developed economies. However, because
of its population size, Asia is a major contributor
to global CO, emissions.

Solid progress has been made in improving access
to safe drinking water with two-thirds of the
economies having achieved the target. Increase
in improved sanitation facilities however has been
less impressive.

e The proportion of the urban population living in

slums declined in most reporting economies.

MDG 8: Develop a global partnership for
development

e Net official development assistance (ODA) to

developing member economies increased by 1.7%
to $34 billion in 2012, with Afghanistan being the
largest recipient with $6.7 billion. Most donor
economies allocate less than 20% of bilateral ODA
to basic social services.

The share of untied ODA increased from 49%
in 2011 to 52% in 2012, but remained constant in

value terms over 2011-2012.

Merchandise exports from Asia and the Pacific
grew by 1.9% in 2012 and in 2013, 60% higher
than that in 2009, when exports dipped due to the
global financial crisis.

Debt-service ratio was highest in Central and
West Asia at 18% in 2012, but all other subregions
had reduced their debt ratios to single-digit levels.



Part 111: Region at a Glance

Economic growth in Asia and the Pacific was
unchanged in 2013, yet the region is undoubtedly
on the move. Asia and the Pacific now accounts for
over half of the global population, nearly 40% of
global gross domestic product (GDP) in purchasing
power parity terms, and about one-third of world
exports. This growing importance also brings with
it increasing challenges. The region now consumes
more than two-fifths of the world’s energy, continues
to increase its emissions of greenhouse gases and
other pollutants, and faces the rapid consumption
of scarce resources. Furthermore, corruption is
hindering development, with more than 40% of the
region’s economies falling into the bottom one-third
of Transparency International’s global corruption
rankings.

There are plenty of positive indicators on which
to reflect as well. Quality of life, as measured by the
Human Development Index, continues to improve in
most of the region. Inflation generally remained low
across Asia and the Pacific in 2013. For businesses,
the time it takes to start a business and the cost of
registering a new business are declining. And in a
growing number of economies, the services sector
has become an important contributor to exports,
offering the opportunity to meet the employment
needs of an expanding population.

People

e Asia and the Pacific accounts for nearly 55% of
the global population and six of the world’s 10
most populous economies are in the region. The
region’s population is forecast to grow by almost 1
billion by 2050.

e Population growth and fertility rates have slowed
down in most economies, but remain high in some.
India’s population is expected to surpass that of
the People’s Republic of China (PRC) in the next
15 years.

e Theregion’s population is aging, and this has major
implications for economic growth. Developed
member economies already have a relatively high
proportion of older people.

* The rate of urbanization is increasing in most
of the region. Asia is home to 12 of the world’s
23 biggest cities and 8 of the 10 most densely
populated cities.

e Based on UNDP’s Human Development Index,
about half of developing member economies are
in the “medium h